



COMPUTATIONAL ANDSTRUCTURAL BIOTECHNOLOGY J O U R N A L



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/csbj

Review

The ecology of plasmid-coded antibiotic resistance: a basic framework for experimental research and modeling



Martin Zwanzig

Faculty of Environmental Sciences, Technische Universität Dresden, Pienner Str. 8, D-01737 Tharandt, Germany

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 1 September 2020 Received in revised form 16 December 2020 Accepted 20 December 2020 Available online 29 December 2020

Keywords: Plasmid ecology Antibiotic resistance Horizontal gene transfer Fitness Agent-based modeling Simulation model Individual heterogeneity Evolution Biotic interactions

ABSTRACT

Many antibiotic resistance genes are associated with plasmids. The ecological success of these mobile genetic elements within microbial communities depends on varying mechanisms to secure their own propagation, not only on environmental selection. Among the most important are the cost of plasmids and their ability to be transferred to new hosts through mechanisms such as conjugation. These are regulated by dynamic control systems of the conjugation machinery and genetic adaptations that plasmid-host pairs can acquire in coevolution. However, in complex communities, these processes and mechanisms are subject to a variety of interactions with other bacterial species and other plasmid types. This article summarizes basic plasmid-coded antibiotic resistance in aquatic environments. Through selected examples, it further introduces to the features of different types of simulation models such as systems of ordinary differential equations and individual-based models, which are considered to be important tools to understand these complex systems. This ecological perspective aims to improve the way we study and understand these dynamics, diversity and persistence of plasmids and associated antibiotic resistance for a lasmid should be such as systems. Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of Research Network of Computational and

Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons. org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction	587
2.	Plasmid fitness	588
	2.1. Vertical transmission	588
	2.2. Horizontal transmission	590
	2.3. Plasmid co-occurrence, incompatibility and immunity	590
	2.4. Plasmid costs	590
	2.5. Adaptations at population and cell level	590
3.	Environmental characteristics	592
	3.1. Biofilm versus plankton	592
	3.2. Natural versus artificial conditions	592
4.	Modeling approaches	593
	4.1. Purpose of models	593
	4.2. Theoretical versus customized models	593
	4.2.1. Theoretical models	593
	4.2.2. Customized models	594
	4.3. Population-level versus individual-based models	594
	4.4. Limitations, pitfalls and good modeling practice	595
	4.5. Implementing conjugation – details that can make a difference	596
5.	Summary and outlook	596
	Declaration of Competing Interest	596
	References	596

E-mail address: martin.zwanzig@tu-dresden.de

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2020.12.027

^{2001-0370/© 2020} The Author(s). Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of Research Network of Computational and Structural Biotechnology. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

1. Introduction

Antibiotic resistances are spreading worldwide in microbial communities and environments [1]. They are a threat to human health, since the use of antibiotics is often the only way to treat infectious diseases [2].

Some bacteria are resistant to antibiotics due to intrinsic structural or functional characteristics [3]. Other are able to develop or acquire resistance mechanisms through mutation or horizontal gene transfer (HGT) [4]. The latter refers, for example, to the spread of mobile genetic elements (MGE) such as plasmids by cell-to-cell contact of bacteria. Other MGE and potential sources of antibotic resistance are bacteriophages, genomic islands, insertion sequence elements, transposons and integrons [5]. Among MGE, conjugative plasmids are the most significant for HGT [6, 7] and considered to be major drivers for the dissemination of antibiotic resistance genes among clinically relevant pathogens [8]. Studies comparing collections of bacterial pathogens before and after the era of antibiotic use showed that plasmids were similarly common, but resistance genes were not, suggesting that they developed in bacteria and were inserted into existing plasmids [9].

De novo resistances to antibiotics develop by both DNA mutations and adaptation of expression levels [10]. This includes for example efflux-pump activations enabling the survival at low levels of antibiotics. Secondary mutations allowing resistance to higher concentrations can be promoted by the SOS-response, which can modulate genetic instability and stimulate HGT that spreads the resistance mutation within the population [10]. In addition, bacteria can develop compensatory mutations that reduce the fitness cost that is usually associated with antibiotic resistance [11].

The molecular mechanisms of antibiotic resistances have recently been summarized by Blair et al. [3]. These include a prevention of the access of the drug to its target due to a decreased permeability or increased efflux. Furthermore, structural changes of the antibiotic target are able to circumvent an efficient binding of the antibiotic. This is caused by point mutations of genes coding for the antibiotic target, which will be rapidly selected under continuing antibiotic pressure. Targets can also be protected by mechanisms of resistance involving chemical modification, which can be induced by the antibiotic (and are therefore transient); however, mutations might produce a constitutive (permanent) expression of these mechanisms.

How a resistance mechanism works at the single cell level can affect its abundance in the population. It has been observed that so-called 'selfish' mechanisms such as efflux-pump are selected at lower antibiotic concentrations than mechanisms that lead to antibiotic modification that also benefits non-resistant cells in the population [12]. Genes that are involved in the inactivation of antibiotics are sometimes colocalized with other genes that enable bacteria to use the antibiotic as a nutrient and energy source [13]. This exploitation of antibiotics as a resource in turn also benefits sensitive cells and adds another level of complexity to the process of antibiotic resistance proliferation.

Bacteria which do not harbour any or simply not the appropriate resistance are killed or do not replicate in the presence of antibiotics [14]. The effect of an antibacterial agent can differ between species or strains of the same species. A bacteriostatic effect is given when a drug (most of all) inhibits bacterial growth, e.g. by blocking a specific metabolic pathway, and affected bacteria may resume their growth if the antibacterial agent gets diluted [15]. Bactericidal effects are given if a drug is able to kill the bacteria at high rates, which is mediated by an irreversible destruction of the physical or genetic integrity of individual cells and finally leads to a more or less pronounced decline in the number of viable cells [14]. However, below the minimum bactericidal concentration (MBC), they may only inhibit bacterial growth. Bactericidal effects of antibiotics can be undesirable in certain clinical settings, e.g. when cell lysis releases bacterial products that stimulate the production of other substances which may initiate a harmful inflammation [15]. Meta-analysis studies have shown that the clinical outcome (even in serious infections) using static or cidal drugs is not substantially different, and probably static agents can act sometimes as cidal and viceversa in the complex environment of the infection site [16]. The antibiotic effect thus depends on the general effect of a drug on a target bacterium and on the antibiotic concentration or its dynamics.

Antibiotics used for therapeutic treatment of human infections, in agriculture and animal or fish farming pollute the environment and act as a selective pressure for resistances, potentially increasing the risk of transfer of resistance genes to human pathogens [17]. For example, it has been observed that high background concentrations of quinolones in a river enriches the population of waterborne bacteria carrying plasmid-encoded quinolone resistances [18]. Additionally, heavy metal pollution is considered to be a selective force for antibiotic resistances, because a coselection occurs by mechanisms such as efflux pumps that can work against both heavy metals and antibiotics (cross-resistance) or by a close genetic arrangement of both types of resistance, which facilitates a combined transmission by HGT (co-resistance) [19].

The transfer of resistances from their original (natural) hosts to human pathogens has been suggested to be restricted by stringent bottlenecks related to fitness costs, the founder effect and ecological connectivity [1], all of which also apply to plasmid-coded antibiotic resistance. Accordingly, transfer events require a contact between recipients and donors, implying that both the size and connectivity of their populations in the same or adjacent ecological space are important. Where the background concentration of antibiotics is very low, cells carrying a resistance plasmid may have a lower fitness and may only be maintained by the acquisition of compensatory mutations or the connection to another habitat with different conditions, which has been recently demonstrated by an experimental evolution study for the maintenance of a mercury resistance plasmid [20]. Martinez et al. [1] further assumed that the chance that a new gene is established in a population is reduced when other genes with a similar substrate profile are already stably spread within this population (founder effect). Nonetheless, there can also be pleiotropic effects, as those recently observed for co-evolving plasmid-host pairs, which suggest that the stable presence of resistance plasmids can increase the stability of other resistance plasmids in the same host [21] – a mechanism that facilitates multidrug resistance. Hall et al. [22] observed that the fitness effect of plasmids was highly variable and depended on several factors including the plasmid status (of competing hosts) and the degree of abiotic selection of the plasmid-coded resistance. These considerations and empirical observations suggest that the proliferation of antibiotic resistance plasmids is likely to be influenced by multiple abiotic and biotic factors.

Martinez et al. [23] proposed some guidelines that were drawn up to predict the risk of emergence of resistances to antibiotics which will become clinically introduced. Accordingly, a prediction of the dissemination of antibiotic resistances should take into account evolutionary constraints, selection pressures and environmental variations. To assess the probability that resistant bacteria become established these authors recommend developing mathematical models which investigate the population dynamics of resistant and sensitive bacterial populations in the absence and presence of antibiotics. In general, a variety of factors is at play, and selection effects can occur for different targets nested at



Fig. 1. Entities, state variables and scales affecting the ecology of plasmid-coded antibiotic resistance. Plasmids vary in size and can provide antibiotic resistance genes (ARG) or phage resistance to their host. This can help cells to prevent growth inhibition or cell death in consequence of the presence of some antibiotic. If plasmids carry transfer genes (tra), they can perform conjugation, which transfers a copy of the plasmid from the host to a nearby recipient cell. Bacteria can be either solitary or part of a microcolony or biofilm. Those that detach from the biofilm may be transported to another location where they can exchange genes with other subpopulations or members of the microbial community.

different scales, including landscapes, soil particles, biofilms, bacterial populations as well as the bacterial host, MGE, and the resistance gene itself [24]. For the ecology of plasmid-coded antibiotic resistance, certain entities, state variables and scales are particular important (Fig. 1).

In the following, processes that influence plasmid propagation and the characteristics of diverse aquatic environments are reviewed to provide an overview of the complexity that models on the spread of plasmid-bornantibiotic resistances are confronted with. Finally, this overview provides an insight into opportunities for the application of different types of simulation models and opens an ecological perspective for plasmid and antibiotic resistance research.

2. Plasmid fitness

Fitness can be considered as a measure of ecological success representing the ability to leave offspring relative to others [25]. In this context, the fitness of plasmids has two dimensions (Fig. 2): vertical transmission fitness, i.e. spread to the daughter cells of the host by cell division, and horizontal transmission fitness, i.e. spread to new host cells, for example, by conjugation. Considering that any effects that reduce vertical plasmid transmission can theoretically be balanced by the effect of horizontal transmission, the conditions for plasmid persistence can be analytically determined [26, 27, 28, 29, 30]. This can be easily generalized to a specific plasmid in specific and axenic bacterial isolates (clones) and has provided important insights into plasmid dynamics. However, apart from such a 'subpopulation-centric-framework' [31], bacteria in nature often live in complex communities (as illus-

trated in Fig. 1) and dynamic changes in the rates of vertical and horizontal transmission are to be expected because (i) different bacteria may be available as hosts, (ii) they also compete with each other, and (iii) may carry other plasmids, (iv) all of which can undergo evolutionary modifications and (v) are subject to changes of environmental conditions. As current research aims to understand the environmental dimension of antibiotic resistance, such ecological and evolutionary factors have to be taken into account.

2.1. Vertical transmission

Particularly important for understanding the persistence of antibiotic resistance is the general question how plasmids that provide no apparent benefit persist in a bacterial community. On the one hand, the persistence potential of a specific plasmid type might be increased if it is able to replicate in multiple hosts and has a less severe impact on the growth rate of the plasmidbearing host in comparison to its plasmid-free counterpart. For example, Seoane et al. [32] reported that plasmids can reduce maximum growth rates by up to 40% compared to the plasmid-free state. On the other hand, plasmids benefit if they secure their own propagation during cell fission. This can be achieved in different ways: (i) high copy numbers can reduce the rates of missegregation, i.e. that a daughter cell receives no plasmid copy, (ii) an active-partitioning system can control successful segregation of the plasmid copies, (iii) the so called 'post-segregational killing' by a toxin-antitoxin (TA) system rapidly, but reversibly reduces the growth of daughter cells that do not receive a plasmid copy (which encodes the 'antitoxin' that acts like a silencer of the growth inhibitor; TA systems do not kill bacteria [33]). The latter



TRAIT SPACE OF PLASMID FITNESS

Fig. 2. Trait space depicting the potential realized fitness according to a plasmids vertical and horizontal transmission fitness. Its frequency in a local community declines if vertical transmission fitness is low, e.g. due to high rates of missegregation and plasmid costs, and if this cannot be compensated by horizontal transmission, e.g. conjugation. Both vertical and horizontal transmission fitness are not constant for a specific plasmid, but can be host-specific and change over time due to evolutionary modifications and spatio-temporal variations of environmental factors (see main text).



Fig. 3. Scheme of horizontal gene transfer by mating pair formation of bacteria in a planktonic environment: a bacterium that harbors a conjugative plasmid, called 'donor', couples through its pilus to another bacterium that will receive the plasmid, called 'recipient'. When a copy of the plasmid was successfully transferred, the recipient finally becomes a new donor, called transconjugant. V_b denotes the velocity at which bacteria swim in a planktonic environment, either before (V_{b_1}) or after a tumble event (V_{b_2}) (for a short time) by which bacteria change their movement direction. In a biofilm, local interactions occur without further motion of individual cells (colored patches/ pixel). This can create spatial patterns that in turn affect how and which bacteria interact with each other. The pseudocode gives an example for a conjugation submodel that considers sensing, adaptation and stochastic local interactions of individual cells. This may also be applied to conjugation in plankton, when only mixing but not swimming of individual cells is considered.

might prevent that plasmid-bearing cells get outcompeted in the absence of positive selection for plasmid borne traits [34]. However, this may not efficiently work when a population consists of a number of bacteria (of other species) that are either relatively or completely immune to it or that just never receive the TA system through horizontal transmission and are therefore not affected by it within their cellular lineage.

2.2. Horizontal transmission

Autonomous replication is common to all plasmid types, but further capabilities can vary remarkably. One of the most important differences is their ability to perform horizontal gene transfer, which is known since the pioneering work of Lederberg and Tatum [35]. Plasmid types that encode a set of mobility genes (MOB) as well as a complex enabling mating pair formation (MPF) are called 'conjugative' [36]. They can spread from one bacterium to another through a mating channel, provided by a type 4 secretion system (T4SS) [37]. The scheme provided in Fig. 3 illustrates this process: the bacterium that carries the conjugative plasmid expresses one or more pili. These are extended to capture another bacterium and, if successful, retracted in order to minimize cell distances. This establishes a stable cell-to-cell contact for the transfer of a plasmid copy to the recipient, which in turn becomes a transconjugant. The complete transfer process might take some minutes, as it was shown in detail for individual mating pairs by live cell imaging [38], extending the first information presented decades ago [39].

Plasmid types are called 'mobilizable', if they encode the mobility genes, but only hitchhike with the MPF system of other cooccurring conjugative plasmids performing conjugation [36]. This can also occur in the opposite direction, i.e. from the receiving to the donoring cell of the conjugative plasmid, called 'retrotransfer' [40].

Plasmid types that are neither conjugative nor mobilizable are called 'nonmobilizable' or 'non-transmissible' [36]. They could also be horizontally transferred by natural transformation, transduction or conduction [41], which refers to the uptake of DNA from the environment, the dissemination by phages and the co-integration with a transmissible plasmid. However, the rates of these processes are considered so low that most authors describe this type of plasmid mobility as 'non-transmissible' [42, 41]. Therefore, non-transmissible plasmids are restricted to spread by cell fission, i.e. vertical gene transfer (VGT). Smillie et al. [36] and Garcillan-Barcia et al. [41] found that globally a fourth of the plasmid types are conjugative, one fourth mobilizable and a half non-transmissible.

2.3. Plasmid co-occurrence, incompatibility and immunity

Different plasmid types can co-occur within the same cell, but if they share one or more elements of the plasmid replication or partitioning system, this will likely lead to increased segregation rates, making these plasmids incompatible to each other - a feature that is in general describing the failure of two co-resident plasmids to be stably inherited in the absence of external selection [43]. Thus, related plasmids belong to the same incompatibility group, which means that the introduction of one of both destabilises the other. Despite this, incompatibility can also work through horizontal transmission, since specific plasmid-coded entry exclusion systems let cells actively prevent the transfer of incoming plasmids belonging to the same or a related incompatibility group (e.g. InCC and InCA) [44]. This happens by the recognition of proteins involved in conjugation that are specific to the respective incompatibility groups.

Recent experimental studies demonstrated that the cooccurrence of plasmids affects the fitness of a single plasmid. On the one hand plasmid survival can be promoted by positive epistasis [45], which refers to decreased costs of co-residing plasmids in comparison to a cost that might be expected when their single costs are summed up. On the other hand, epistasis can also be negative or neutral. It has also been reported that horizontal transfer rates are often decreased, when two [46] or three [47] distinct plasmids interact.

Bacteria can be immune to an incoming plasmid due to clustered, regularly interspaced short palindromic repeat (CRISPR)-Cas systems, which have been demonstrated to prevent conjugation [48]. In a recent study, Pinilla-Redondo et al. [49] showed that these system are carried by plasmid-like elements and involved in competition between plasmids. These authors concluded that they are used to eliminate other plasmids with similar properties and lifestyles in order to monopolize the host environment. This indicates an important role of these systems for the regulation of horizontal plasmid transfer between microorganisms. However, CRISPR systems are highly diverse and the reasons for this diversification and its consequences for the evolution and genetic adaptation of microbial communities are not yet fully understood [50].

2.4. Plasmid costs

It is widely accepted that the main fitness cost of plasmids comes from downstream events such as expression of plasmid genes [51], although plasmids also incur costs for DNA replication and repair. The production of plasmid proteins, e.g. for conjugation, uses up raw material and occupies the cellular machinery [7]. Several studies identified conjugation as a source of plasmid cost [51]. Considering that most bacteria suppress the expression of transfer genes [52], this is probably a strategy to avoid ongoing high costs. In contrast to this mechanism, it was found that functions such as antibiotic resistance may not be regulated in response to environmental conditions, i.e. may incur costs even in the absence of antibiotics [53].

2.5. Adaptations at population and cell level

The spectrum of actions bacteria are able to perform under suitable conditions is restricted by the genetic information they have access to. A number of mechanisms such as point mutations, deletions of chromosomal regions as well as processes procuring DNA from the environment can create novel genetic variants in bacterial populations [25]. In addition to the stable core genome of around 2000 genes for a single E. coli cell (assessed for 20 E. coli strains) [54], bacteria gain and loss genes which are highly mobile between bacterial cells [55], e.g. by conjugation. These non-core genes increase the diversity of a species pan-genome and can make up 90% of it [54]. Hence a bacterial population has a fundamental basis to adapt to various environmental requirements. But these shifts on population level are subjected to adaptations of individual cells. The part of a bacterial genome that encodes for additional traits that are only sometimes beneficial, but do not represent essential cellular functions, is called the 'flexible' gene pool [5].

If ecological conditions become harsh bacteria may adapt through alterations of their genome structure. This happens by the selection of point mutations and genetic rearrangements as well as by gene acquisition through HGT or by genome reduction [5]. It results rather in modifications of the 'flexible' gene pool, which comprises variable chromosomal regions as well as mobile and accessory genetic elements, than in alterations of the conserved 'core' genome, encoding essential cellular functions [5]. The latter mostly emerge through recombination and mutation [54].

Mobile genetic elements such as plasmids may provide advantageous traits to the host, potentially increasing its fitness. Those bacteria possessing highest compatibility and performance in interaction with these MGE will presumably be most competitive [1]. If compatibility is low or the carriage of the MGE in its ancestral form is to expensive compared to its advantages, adaptation has to occur. Otherwise the integrated MGE, the bacterium or both will get lost, at least in the long-term. This becomes evident to a greater extend if the conditions for the selection of the trait are fluctuating or become obsolete and the carriage of these genes represents a competitive burden for the bacteria. In the study of San Millan et al. [42] both a reduced cost and periods of positive selection were necessary to maintain the integrated MGE, a nontransmissible plasmid. Environmental conditions, starvation, stress and high copy numbers of a gene increase the probability for genetic mutations, which could be important in the evolution of antibiotic resistances [23]. Such mutations may alter the biological fitness of resistant strains to a level similar or even higher than that of the susceptible parental strain.

Many studies investigated the coevolution of plasmids and bacteria. It was found that the plasmids cost-of-carriage can be reduced due to mutations occurring at the plasmid, the chromosome or both [7]. Among the key mechanisms that mediate this amelioration of plasmid costs are changes in the conjugation rate, the loss of plasmid genes as well as changes in plasmid gene expression [7]. Changes in conjugation rate can range from a complete loss of the ability to conjugate towards the evolution of lower or higher rates [56], whereas the imposed costs to the host positively correlate with the extent of the conjugation rate [34]. Hence, a shift towards a lower rate enables a higher vertical transmission rate, which indicates a closer alignment of plasmid and bacterial fitness interests. Dahlberg and Chao [56]

reported deletions of plasmid-borne antibiotic resistance genes in plasmid-containing populations during experimental evolution. This resulted in an increased fitness of the host, but also means that the resulting population is again sensitive to antibiotics.

As plasmid-encoded compensatory adaptations are not only confined to one population as adaptations of the bacterial chromosome, their potential to invade new populations by horizontal gene transfer may be enhanced, as recently demonstrated by mathematical modeling [30]. Dionisio et al. [57] found that plasmid adaptations can provide a general fitness improvement, even in alternative hosts. This enhances the potential for plasmid spread and maintenance dramatically, even when it was reported to be very low for a specific plasmid-host-combination. This finding is of particular importance considering that recent bioinformatic analysis revealed that more than 60% of the plasmids of the global prokarvotic plasmidome were reported to be able to colonize species from different phyla [58]. Plasmids coding for antibiotic resistance could therefore initially acquire cost-compensating mutations in co-evolution with a particular common host and later spread as optimized vectors to other less common but potentially more harmful species.

The spectrum of all the aforementioned properties and processes shows that the occurrence and persistence of plasmids, which may provide antibiotic resistance, is affected by diverse factors comprising mutations and adaptations at the single cell level as well as biotic interactions between different plasmid types and different plasmid-host associations. Fig. 4 attempts to summarize how certain properties of different plasmid types determine the propagation of plasmids and how this can be influenced by



Fig. 4. Properties of different plasmid types and influences on their vertical and horizontal transfer capabilities. These can also determine the spread of antibiotic resistance. Apart from the factors described here, many other ecological conditions are likely to play an important role (see main text).

different processes. The following section focuses on the role of environmental and ecological factors.

3. Environmental characteristics

3.1. Biofilm versus plankton

Microbial processes and all kind of ecological interactions greatly depend on the features of the environment. In general, bacteria living in aquatic environments are either in a planktonic status or they form a biofilm, a well organized structure of microorganisms that is protected by a self-produced polymeric matrix. A biofilm can be attached to a fixed surface or to another biotic or abiotic particle that itself might be dispersed in the free water column. Both modes, the planktonic and the biofilm mode of bacterial life, are schematically illustrated and compared in Fig. 1 and 3. Biofilm-formation is a very common and successful strategy employed by bacteria, whereas timescales differ between bacterial species and have been reported to take as long as 20 to 25 days for maturation [59]. Biofilms play a significant role in microbial survival [60] and mediate the vast majority of healthcare associated infections [61]. However, bacterial populations also develop in situations in which individual cells are not interconnected, and all bacteria found to be able to form biofilms can produce 'free-swimming' cells.

In plankton, the bacteria are mixed and have many opportunities for horizontal gene transfer through mating pair formation, while the total cell density is usually reduced by a low nutrient concentration and a high influence of dilution or washout, as is typical in a river. Toxin-delivery systems that can influence the composition of microbial communities and processes such as the secretion of virulence factors or the production of public goods that are initiated by cell communication might not be at work under such circumstances. Quorum sensing mechanisms usually prevent actions that would be unproductive and costly when undertaken by only a very few cells [62]. However, bacteria are often capable of taxis and can aggregate by this means to increasing local concentrations, or by associating with fibres and particulates, e.g. similar to activated sludge flocs in a water treatment reactor. The formation of such microcolonies that are dispersed within the water column may also stimulate horizontal gene transfer systems that allow bacteria to sense the right time and place, e.g. high cell densities, to switch on the conjugation machinery [52].

Opposed to this, bacteria in a biofilm predominantly interact with their local neighbors, which can enhance the efficiency of the before mentioned mechanisms. The same is true for other mechanisms that require cell-to-cell contact, such as contact dependent inhibition (CDI), a competitive system that can influence the composition and spatial organization of growing bacterial populations [63]. Such an antagonistic behavior based on the ability to kill or inhibit the growth of other bacteria has also been observed to evolve in stationary phase [64], i.e. when the population stops growing. Considering the high cell density and potential huge distance to the nutrient supplying interface, which is either the surface the biofilm is attached to or the fluid flowing over and through the biofilm matrix, bacteria in a biofilm likely face heterogeneous environmental conditions depending on their (vertical) position within the biofilm matrix [65]. This biofilm matrix is of particular importance because it can represent a barrier for antimicrobial agents, which, in contrast to the high importance of biofilms for bacterial life, have generally been tested considering how they eradicate planktonic bacteria [66]. Due to the impermeability characteristics, a higher concentration of antibiotics may be required to have a bactericidal effect on biofilm bacteria compared to planktonic bacteria [67]. This can facilitate the survival of persister cells, which appear for several reasons, but may also survived a previous antibiotic treatment and can easily provide resistance to the regrowing population [68]. New therapeutic approaches therefore target biofilm formation and dispersal [66].

At the interface of biofilm and plankton, bacteria may either attach from the plankton to the biofilm, which can be promoted by the adhesive effect of pili synthesised by cells carrying conjugative plasmids [69], or otherwise be dispersed from the biofilm to the plankton, which can be modulated by quorum sensing of diffusible signal factors [70]. Recently, the ability of conjugative plasmids to promote biofilm formation has been found to be correlated with conjugation efficiency, whereas some plasmids can have dominant effects over other co-inhabiting plasmids [71]. Biofilms grow because cells divide and shove each other away, a mechanism vividly demonstrated by individual-based models of colony formation [72]. Apart from this effect, colonising planktonic cells likely remain in the same location until they either die or reenter the planktonic phase [73]. This is likely associated with a higher degree of intraspecific competition compared to a mixed environment, where bacteria are less likely to interact directly with their progeny.

Biofilms are thought to be highly heterogeneous with respect to many environmental conditions such as nutrients, pH and oxygen gradients, as well as the metabolic potential and phenotypic characteristics of the constituent populations [74]. The niche space, which is typically characterized by time, space, resources and predation [75], could therefore also be considerably large from the plasmids' point of view. Correspondingly, it was hypothesized that HGT could play a key role in microbial sociality in a biofilm context, since many accessory features of the plasmid are expressed outside the cell [7]. This may also explain why multispecies biofilms have been found to show increasing resistance [60]. Nonetheless, another recent study reported a reduced selection for antimicrobial resistance when embedded in a natural community [76], which indicates that still much is unknown about the role of interspecific interactions.

3.2. Natural versus artificial conditions

One of the differences between artificial and natural aquatic environments is their pollution with antibiotics, which is either increased by direct entries into sewage systems and waste water treatment plants or rests at a low natural background concentration as in almost pristine rivers. However, antibiotic resistance genes have been found in any type of aquatic environment, even in drinking water [77]. In the Danube river, one resistant isolate could be detected for each tested antibiotic, which also opens the possibility that these genes can spread to related human pathogens [78]. In India, extended-spectrum β -lactamases are known to circulate in the community, although affected people may not even have been hospitalized in the past - a problem that has also been linked to antibiotic resistance found in tap water and street water basins [79]. It indicates that pollution with antibiotics is concerning at both artificial and natural environments because they are interlinked and even water cleaned in waste water treatment plants can spread antibiotic resistance into the environment, where it may re-enter the drinking water cycle.

To understand the environmental dimension of antibiotic resistance, it is of particular importance to be aware of the differences between the artificial conditions in the laboratory and the natural conditions in the environment. In general, these have a biotic and an abiotic dimension resulting from the targeted homogenization and determination of many factors influencing bacterial life in the laboratory and their heterogeneity and dynamics in the natural environment. Among the biotic factors is biodiversity, which is linked to a consideration of intra- and interspecific interactions of bacteria and their interactions with entities of other trophic levels such as plasmids, phages and predators. These entities and their interactions can further be affected by demographic and spatio-temporal dependencies such as those given by a restricted spatial interaction in biofilms or by rare mutations and other events that happen at the single cell level as a result of a specific life history. The abiotic dimension comprises the diversity and spatio-temporal variation of the physico-chemical conditions, given by local temporal variations in the availability or presence of specific substances such as antibiotics, heavy metals, organic compounds, oxygen or derivatives of bacterial processes, as well as by the local temperature and dilution regime, which potentially influence each other in their dynamics.

Testing ecological and evolutionary theory with simple, highly controlled laboratory setups with one or two species provides very important insights, but several characteristics can be strongly altered when the biotic complexity is expanded [80]. Even when simple setups are used, conventional laboratory cultivation techniques may fail to appropriately reproduce the natural conditions of organisms [81]. Whereas closed batch cultures impose a drastic change of the environmental conditions during the experiment, open continuous-cultures fix these conditions but may also neglect that the growth of heterotrophic microorganisms is limited in most environments by the slow hydrolysis of particulate organic matter [81]. The doubling times of bacteria are substantially longer in the wild than in the laboratory, e.g. 15 h instead of 20 min for E. coli [82]. Although environmental matrices can be maintained in a laboratory context, the microbial communities may behave and evolve differently than in their natural equivalent [83]. Recent methodological advances providing synthetic bacterial communities comprising for example 33 bacterial strains bridge the gap between simpler synthetic and natural systems [80]. Other developments such as community flow cytometry, which provides highdimensional data characterising communities at the single cell level [84], can enhance the analysis depth and resolution of sequencing approaches and can be used for pure cultures or complex communities in clear medium as well as challenging matrices [85]. The development of such approaches can overcome many restrictions, for example of simple laboratory models focusing on single-species biofilms, which do not illustrate the true nature of biofilm communities and ignore that many if not most infections are mediated by polymicrobial biofilms [60].

It was also found that regular switching of the plasmid host is able to increase the amelioration of the plasmids cost-of-carriage compared to plasmid evolution in a single host species [86]. Similar findings have also been reported from soil microcosm experiments [87], suggesting an increased potential for amelioration of plasmid costs in more complex (natural) environments compared to laboratory conditions, which may raise general concerns about their validity. However, Hall et al. [88] found that natural communities might even not adapt to abiotic conditions, because such fitness benefits can be negated considering competitive species interactions in natural communities. Similarly, Cairns et al. [89] showed that a plasmid-dependent bacteriophage can eliminate a conjugative plasmid providing antibiotic resistance, but this can be prevented by a protozoan predator. It suggests that multitrophic interactions play a significant role, although many experimental setups do not take this into account.

4. Modeling approaches

4.1. Purpose of models

Just as laboratory systems do not reflect the actual conditions in nature, simulation models represent a simplification of the depicted system. Thus, if the depcited system is a simplification, many simulation models represent a kind of simplification of a simplification. This is because any experimental design is guided by an *implicit* model, an imagination of the system under investigation, but which lacks a clear definition of assumptions and tests of consistency and logical consequences [90]. This represents a form of 'pre-model scaling' [91], a simplification or aggregation that is done prior to running 'a model'. Usually, people have an *explicit* model in mind, if they think of 'models' or 'modeling'. Contrary to *implicit* models, the assumptions of *explicit* models are laid down in detail. It can be studied what happens on the basis of these assumptions and what happens if they are changed. Writing such *explicit* models means that the results are replicable and can be subjected to rigorous sensitivity and uncertainty analysis.

4.2. Theoretical versus customized models

As models thus offer a gain in knowledge from the abstraction of the represented real system, it is important to be clear which system the model actually represents. A distinction can be made between two types of simulation models: 1) theoretical models that are guided by a specific scientific question or theory and are primarily developed to test contrasting hypothesis; and 2) customized models that are guided by a specific experimental design and are primarily developed to serve as a tool for the analysis of the experimentally observed behavior (data). Both type of models can provide mechanistic insights that cannot be revealed by laboratory experiments. While 'customized models' show how the experimentally observed patterns can arise, 'theoretical models' are not constrained by the design of a laboratory experiment. They can even address issues that cannot be investigated by experiments. This is particularly important for research in areas outside microbiology, as it takes much longer to experimentally observe, for example, evolution and ecological interactions in forests. However, also in microbial ecology there are many interesting setups that are hardly implementable. These can be addressed by theoretical models.

4.2.1. Theoretical models

Theoretical models are often more flexibly applicable than similar customized models because they provide a more general description of a system. One such example is the platform iDynoMiCS (individual-based Dynamics of Microbial Communities Simulator) [92], which is composed of modules, a feature that facilitates its application to varying settings. It has for example been used for theoretical studies addressing diverse topics such as the response of a community of denitrifying bacteria to an environmentally fluctuating oxygen availability [92], the dependence of conjugation on the growth rate of the donor cell and its consequences for the plasmid invasion in biofilms [93] as well as the effect of competitive and mutualistic interactions in a twolineage community on the selection of antibiotic resistance [94]. Another recent modular platform that aims to serve as a kind of standard model is the Antibiotic Resistance Evolution Simulator (ARES), which can simulate nested compartments from the ecosystem level to the bacterial host [95]. It has been applied to examine how the rate of antibiotic resistance among bacterial species is influenced by a variety of variables that determine the complex parameter space that defines the interaction of biological elements in a given environment [96] and how the plasmid kinetic values that are determined by conjugation rate and segregation rate due to stochastic loss and incompatibility with other plasmids influences the population ecology of antibiotic resistance in a hospital setting [97].

Besides iDynoMiCS and ARES, many more theoretical models have been recently applied to study the spread of antibiotic resistance, e.g. to investigate the role of varying mechanisms to solve conflicts between plasmids carrying a cooperative trait and their bacterial hosts [98], of transmission and relatedness as factors driving the plasmid-borne public goods production [99], of multispecies interactions involving antibotic production and degredation on ecological stability and biodiversity [100], of inter- and intra-cellular interactions between conjugative and non-transmissible plasmids [101], of switching strategies between susceptible and persister cells [102], of plasmid- versus chromosome-located compensatory adaptations of the cost-ofcarriage of plasmids and associated resistance genes [30], of the positioning of wastewater treatment plants in a river network [103], of transformation for a stabilization of the bacterial genome in stochastic environments [104] and of transduction considering co-evolution (phage immunity of bacterial hosts) and stochastic and local effects [105].

4.2.2. Customized models

Among the more recent studies that used customized models are Yurtsev et al. [106], who investigated how the fraction of resistant cells carrying a plasmid that encodes a β -lactamase enzyme that may allow sensitive bacteria to survive is affected by antibiotic concentration and the addition of a commonly used β -lactamase inhibitor. For this, experimental results were compared with a model based on ordinary differential equations and a Michaelis-Menten Kinetics for antibiotic inactivation. A further example is the study by Lopatkin et al. [29], who derived a critical conjugation efficiency as an upper bound for dominant plasmid persistence and investigated the conditions of conjugation-assisted persistence when mutliple conjugation plasmids and multiple species are present. They used a system of differential equations whose increase in complexity was fully reported, starting with a one-species, one-plasmid model to a multiple species, multiple plasmid model. Malwade et al. [107] fitted varying systems of ordinary differential equations to flow cytometry observations of growth and conjugation dynamics in a batch process and compared the predictive power and parameter uncertainty of varving model formulations. Meredith et al. [108] quantified determinants of resistance at the single cell level and resilience at the population level in response to a β -lactam antibiotic. They also used a system of differential equations describing the interactive change of the components population density, antibiotic concentration (β -lactam), nutrient level and *Bla* concentration (β -lactamase). Valle et al. [109] studied the distribution of plasmid fitness effects for the major antibiotic resistance plasmid pOXA-48. They found this to be dominated by quasi-neutral effects, which, incorporated in a simple system of ordinary differential equations, indicated that plasmid stability increases with bacterial diversity and is less dependent on conjugation.

Further within-host and between-hosts models on antibiotic resistance dynamics including studies considering interactions with host immune responses or focusing on optimal drug dosage regimes were recently reviewed by Tetteh et al. [110]. Leclerc et al. [111] applied a systematic review on studies using 'dynamic' models to study the horizontal transfer of antibiotic resistance genes between bacteria. They found that 33 of the 43 studies involved in their review used deterministic models to obtain their results, all of which representing ordinary differential equations (ODE). The other 10 studies used stochastic models, 6 of which representing agent-based models, 3 stochastic differential equations and 1 difference equations. The review by Leclerc et al. [111] further showed that nine of these studies did not apply any sensitivity analysis and only eight studies run their model multiple times and sampled parameter values from distributions rather than assuming them to be constant.

4.3. Population-level versus individual-based models

Existing modeling approaches are differently suited to address certain research questions. A fundamental difference is the level at which these models describe interactions. On the one hand there are population-level models (PLM) that can describe the interactions between species. Ordinary differential equations (ODE) are often used to describe how a compartment of the model (e.g. one of the interacting species) changes over time. This is based on the principle of mass action, similar to chemical reactions. Thus, the degree of interaction or outcome of some process depends on the 'concentration', 'proportion' or 'density' of the directly involved compartments. For example, horizontal gene transfer depends on the density of both plasmid-bearing and plasmid-free cells and a conjugation rate that determines how often they successfully encounter each other (and which is potentially subject to further restrictions: see below). If one imagines that the vellow compartment in Fig. 5 represents the density of plasmid-free cells and the blue compartment the density of plasmid-bearing cells, such an interaction might increase the area of the green compartment to the detriment of the yellow, considering that recipients become transconjugants as depicted in Fig. 3. The composition of the population of bacteria that live in a certain environment therefore changes. Such changes can also be resource-dependent, for example, by an explicit consideration that some nutrients are consumed, which control bacterial growth through some Monod-kinetic. A resource dependency can also be described by a logistic growth function that implicitly considers a decreased resource availability when population density increases. As an illustrative example, the black box surrounding the coloured compartments in Fig. 5 might be seen as the maximal cell density. Bacterial growth is the greater the more open (non-colored) space is left in this box. If it is full, as given, the density of bacteria cannot increase, only their proportions can change. Apart from that, some bacteria may die off over time, which means there is always some space left to fill by an increase of the compartments. The cell density of the total population or the single compartments could be theoretically infinitely small or large. Any change that can be observed at the population level arises due to the definitions that are directly described at the population level. This represents a 'top-down' approach, since the observed behavior is a direct result of the model formulations.

Individual-based models (IBM) represent a fundamentally different approach. They often consists of (1) some individuals (or 'agents') that interact with the world around them and/or with each other and (2) the world in which the individuals 'live' or move around. Usually some rules define what every individual is allowed or has to do [112]. These rules are repeatedly applied in form of a loop, which allows to repeatedly act or interact.

IBM represent a 'bottom-up' approach, since the changes that are observed at the population level emerge from the activities of lower-level entities. For example, instead of describing the growth of an entire bacterial population, it is considered how individual bacteria take up resources, grow and perform cell fission. This also leads to population growth, but population growth as such is not part of the model formulation. Instead, such characteristics of the population emerge from the behavior of the individuals, which is determined by some rules. This behavior can also take into account individual heterogeneity, e.g. that individual bacteria, even those of the same species (which would belong to the same compartment), have different growth rates or perform cell division at different cell sizes. This may also reflect differences in their life cycle that themselves may be important for other processes, such as the ability to perform horizontal gene transfer [113].

An IBM might also consider that individuals adapt their behavior in order to understand and predict ecosystem complexities [114]. Bacteria can, for example, change their movement direction



Fig. 5. Conceptual differences between population-level models and individual-based models. Colors indicate different species that are represented either 'block'-wise (left; PLM) or by individual cells (right; IBM). The latter may also distinguish between cells of the same species in terms of location, biomass (size) and expression of transfer (*tra*) genes considering heterogeneous environmental conditions (with respect to nutrients and antibiotics).

according to some chemical signal [115]. Thus, bacteria might direct their movement towards higher nutrient availability. Another example are bacteria that carry plasmid-bearing cells, but only shut off the repression of *tra* genes (means they become transfer-competent), when they sense that the conditions to transfer the plasmid are optimal [52]. One of the first real IBMs for microbial biofilms is 'BacSim' [72], which assumes, for example, that bacteria perceive local densities and shove each other away, allowing them to remain competitive for the uptake of local resources.

The ability of IBM to be spatially explicit can be advantageous for a description of conjugation. An individual plasmid-bearing bacterium might therefore be able to perform a transfer attempt only to bacteria in its local neighborhood (see Fig. 3 and Fig. 4). Otherwise, it could also be sufficiently detailed to consider that individual bacteria encounter each other randomly in a mixed environment and perform conjugation with a certain probability. Besides conjugation, processes such as consumption of nutrients can be considered to occur locally, which means that bacteria directly compete for resources in the local neighborhood. Such differences in space can also be taken into account by spatiallyexplicit PLM, i.e. partial differential equations (PDE). This opens the possibility to compare different kind of models in order to reveal the effect of spatial structure (comparing ODE with PDE) or the effect of individual heterogeneity and adaptive behavior (comparing ODE with non-spatial IBM or PDE with spatial IBM), which is best practice [116] and has been recently applied unraveling the effect of spatial interaction on the evolution of a gene sharing mechanism [117].

New laboratory methods that enable to observe and measure the behavior of individual microbes also stimulates individualbased modeling [118], since data on the individual-level is required to parameterize an IBM and to compare simulated individual-level characteristics with empirical data on the same scale [116]. Various techniques extract and process information from individual microbes [119]. Cell tracking, for example, enables the analysis of cell trajectories that can be used to generate a distribution of the turning angle and the swimming speed (before and after a turning event) of bacteria [120]. Single cell analysis has been used to estimate the probability of successful conjugation in dependence to the donor-recipient orientation as well as distributions for the time required to transfer the plasmid and the delay time between transfer events depending on the individual cells history [113]. The application of scanning confocal laser microscopy of fluorescent bacteria revealed the dynamics of the spatial distribution of transconjugants in a flow chamber biofilm [40]. Cytometric analysis can sort thousands of cells in a second [121]. This can, for example, be used to determine relative abundances of subcommunities, reveal cell cycle dynamics and to monitor the evolution of microbial communities [85]. This opens various opportunities for the field of microbial individual-based ecology, which refers to the study of microbial ecology by the combination of such experimental data with individual-based models [118].

4.4. Limitations, pitfalls and good modeling practice

A variety of limitations of IBMs should be considered [116]. For example, IBM might be used to study the sources of variability between replicates of the same treatment in controlled laboratory experiments, as e.g. Harrison et al. [122] demonstrated. But when it comes to rare events such as an infinitesimal small probability that a specific mutations is acquired, IBMs might be on their limit, since they can only simulate a restricted number of individuals, but the probability that any of them will acquire such a mutation within a certain time depends on the population size. In such a case PLM might be required to perform simulation experiments efficiently, although they may only estimate the mean point in time when such a sweeping mutation will take effect.

Apart from the fact that a simulation of too large numbers of individuals is not feasible, computationally expensive models make sensitivity analysis and model fitting more cumbersome. Two methods can overcome this [116]: (1) a simulation of one or several statistically representative volume elements of the larger system in full detail, whereas its size depends on the spatial variation of the features of interest; (2) a simulation of super-individuals that represent a group of similar individuals. In large populations, stochastic differential equation models may better describe heterogeneity. Besides limitations in modeling large-scale systems, IBMs can become too complex to analyse mathematically, understand and communicate. As otherwise too simple models might not be representative for natural systems, an intermediate model complexity is supposed to be optimal [123].

Good modeling practice is to use a structured and standardized description to present a model, e.g. to adopt the 'ODD' (overview, design concepts, and details) protocol for the description of IBMs [124], to check structural realism through the application of a pat-

tern oriented modeling approach, which refers to a comparison of multiple simulated patterns with empirical patterns at varying scales, i.e. involving individual- and population-level characteristics [123, 116]. The structural realism of models should also be examined by model robustness tests. These involve parameter sensitivity analysis that identifies important parameters, which, if achievable, should therefore be carefully estimated with empirical methods. Other robustness tests focus on the model structure, referring to a sensitivity analysis in which processes are systematically included or omitted [125, 126]. Potential pitfalls of IBM are that individuals have global knowledge, processes that are important for the research question are ignored or something that should be an emergent property is imposed [116]. For example, a single donor cell should not be able to identify the last recipient in a population that is composed of thousands of completely mixed cells. Instead, a donor might only by chance select the 'right' recipient cell for a transfer attempt. Another negative example could be that a study aims to investigate how bacterial interactions lead to spatial clusters, which in reality are induced by a predetermined, fixed spatial distribution of some nutrients.

4.5. Implementing conjugation – details that can make a difference

Leclerc et al. [111] reported that most of the studies they included within their review modelled horizontal gene transfer as a mass action process. According to this, the rates of change are often calculated according to the product of the transfer rate γ , the density of donors D (plasmid-bearing cells) and the density of recipients R (plasmid-free cells) such that transfer $T = \gamma RD$. whereas T reflects a density estimate for the proportion of infected cells. Here it might become obvious that this way of modeling horizontal gene transfer is based on the assumption that the actual transfer rate is a constant. But in principle this is only the case if, apart from cell density, all factors that are known to influence the transfer rate are constant. In most cases, however, changes such as in nutrient availability can be expected, which means that the growth rate of the bacteria is not constant and this is known to have an influence on the conjugation rate [40, 127, 113, 93]. Therefore, it has been suggested to model the conjugation rate with a nonlinear substrate dependent expression similar to Monod kinetic or the Michaelis-Menton equation for enzyme kinetics [128]. If substrate availability is not explicitly considered in the model, a simple logistic factor *f* can be used instead [30], such as it is often used to model declining growth rates of bacteria approaching the maximal cell density *N* (carrying capacity)with f = 1 - (D + R)/N. Thus, a corrected estimate of the transfer rate $T_{corr.}$ can be obtained simply by including f such that $T_{corr.} = f \gamma RD$. This principle can also be applied to stochastic, spatially explicit models in which the local availability of vacant sites can mimic the local resource availability that affects both bacterial growth and conjugation rates [101]. Such alignment of growth and conjugation rates with the factor *f* might be negligible under certain circumstances. However, if a population is simulated that is approaching carrying capacity in its growth, then models that do not couple the conjugation rate to growth predict that the bacteria can no longer grow, but the conjugation rates are at their maximum.

5. Summary and outlook

The conditions and processes affecting the persistence and occurrence of plasmid-coded antibiotic resistance are manifold, including many ecological characteristics and properties inherent to the plasmid types themselves. This study provided an overview and ecological framework for the study of plasmid dynamics with simulation models. If the dissemination of antibiotic resistance by plasmids is addressed, the general purpose of a model is to describe the two dimensions of plasmid fitness, i.e. vertical and horizontal transmission. This can be done considering different degrees of complexity with respect to its abiotic and biotic dimension.

Model-based simplification is both a necessity and a valuable insight into key system features. However, a simplification only becomes visible when it is compared with the actual complexity of the system. Assumptions of models should therefore be clearly addressed and justified. In addition to uncertainty and robustness analyses, documentation and description of the step-by-step model development have great potential to improve the understanding of the properties and the behavior of a system, because this learning process provides important insights into the rationale of the decisions made for simplification and their alternatives, which are often not explained in detail.

Biotic interactions, evolutionary modificationsas well as individual heterogeneity and dynamic adaptations can have a strong influence on the spread of plasmid-coded antibiotic resistance. The great advantage of individual-based models is that they describe the processes at the level where they actually take place: the individual cell. Therefore, these processes can be formulated much easier and can be understood more easily by nonmodelers. The combination of such computer-based tools with the increasing number of laboratory methods that provide detailed insights into the dynamics of individual cells offers a way to address the manifold open research questions that are related to the complexity of natural environments.

Models can serve as a powerful tool to understand the environmental dimension of the spread of antibiotic resistance and help to design 'ecology-and-evolution-proof' counteractive strategies.

Declaration of Competing Interest

The author declares to have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

References

- Martínez JL, Coque TM, Baquero F. What is a resistance gene? ranking risk in resistomes. Nat Rev Microbiol 2015;13(2):116–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/</u> <u>nrmicro3399</u>.
- [2] Allen HK, Donato J, Wang HH, Cloud-Hansen KA, Davies J, Handelsman J. Call of the wild: antibiotic resistance genes in natural environments. Nat Rev Microbiol 2010;8(4):251–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro2312</u>.
- [3] Blair JMA, Webber MA, Baylay AJ, Ogbolu DO, Piddock Laura JV. Molecular mechanisms of antibiotic resistance. Nat Rev Microbiol 2015;13(1):42–51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro3380</u>.
- [4] Martinez JL. Antibiotics and antibiotic resistance genes in natural environments. Science 2008;321(5887):365–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/ science.1159483</u>.
- [5] Dobrindt U, Hochhut B, Hentschel U, Hacker J. Genomic islands in pathogenic and environmental microorganisms. Nat Rev Microbiol 2004;2(5):414–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro884</u>.
- [6] Thomas CM, Nielsen KM. Mechanisms of, and barriers to, horizontal gene transfer between bacteria. Nat Rev Micro 2005;3(9):711–21. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nrmicro1234</u>.
- [7] Harrison E, Brockhurst MA. Plasmid-mediated horizontal gene transfer is a coevolutionary process. Trends Microbiol 2012;20(6):262–7. URL: http:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0966842X12000662.
- [8] San Millan A. Evolution of plasmid-mediated antibiotic resistance in the clinical context. Trends Microbiol 2018. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tim.2018.06.007</u>.
- [9] Datta N, Hughes VM. Plasmids of the same inc groups in enterobacteria before and after the medical use of antibiotics. Nature 1983;306(5943):616–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/306616a0.
- [10] Händel N, Schuurmans JM, Feng Y, Brul S, Kuile Ter, Benno H. Interaction between mutations and regulation of gene expression during development of de novo antibiotic resistance. Antimicrobial Agents Chemotherapy 2014;58 (8):4371–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.02892-14</u>.

M. Zwanzig

- [11] Andersson DI, Hughes D. Antibiotic resistance and its cost: is it possible to reverse resistance?. Nat Rev Microbiol 2010;8(4):260–71. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nrmicro2319</u>.
- [12] Bottery MJ, Wood AJ, Brockhurst MA. Selective conditions for a multidrug resistance plasmid depend on the sociality of antibiotic resistance. Antimicrobial Agents Chemotherapy 2016. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/ AAC.02441-15</u>.
- [13] Perri R, Kolvenbach BA, Corvini PFX. Subsistence and complexity of antimicrobial resistance on a community-wide level. Environmental Microbiology 2020;22(7):2463–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.15018</u>.
- [14] Baquero F, Levin BR. Proximate and ultimate causes of the bactericidal action of antibiotics. Nat Rev Microbiol 2020. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41579-020-00443-1</u>.
- [15] Finberg RW, Moellering RC, Tally FP, Craig WA, Pankey GA, Dellinger EP, West MA, Joshi M, Linden PK, Rolston KV, Rotschafer JC, Rybak MJ. The importance of bactericidal drugs: future directions in infectious disease. Clinical infectious diseases: an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America 2004;39(9):1314–20. https://doi.org/10.1086/425009.
- [16] Nemeth J, Oesch G, Kuster SP. Bacteriostatic versus bactericidal antibiotics for patients with serious bacterial infections: systematic review and metaanalysis. J Antimicrob Chemother 2015;70(2):382–95. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1093/jac/dku379</u>.
- [17] Berendonk TU, Manaia CM, Merlin C, Fatta-Kassinos D, Cytryn E, Walsh F, Burgmann H, Sorum H, Norstrom M, Pons MN, Kreuzinger N, Huovinen P, Stefani S, Schwartz T, Kisand V, Baquero F, Martinez JL. Tackling antibiotic resistance: the environmental framework. Nat Rev Micro 2015;13(5):310–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro3439.
- [18] Cattoir V, Poirel L, Nordmann P. Plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance pump qepa2 in an escherichia coli isolate from france. Antimicrob Agents Chemotherapy 2008;52(10):3801-4. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00638-08</u>.
- [19] Seiler C, Berendonk TU. Heavy metal driven co-selection of antibiotic resistance in soil and water bodies impacted by agriculture and aquaculture. Front Microbiol 2012;3:399. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/ fmicb.2012.00399</u>.
- [20] Harrison E, Hall JPJ, Brockhurst MA. Migration promotes plasmid stability under spatially heterogeneous positive selection. Proc R Soc B: Biol Sci 2018;285:1879. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2018.0324</u>. 20180324.
- [21] Jordt H, Stalder T, Kosterlitz O, Ponciano J, Top E, Kerr B. Coevolution of hostplasmid pairs facilitates the emergence of novel multidrug resistance. Nat Ecol Evol 2020;4:1-7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-020-1170-1</u>.
- [22] Hall JPJ, Harrison E, Lilley AK, Paterson S, Spiers AJ, Brockhurst MA. Environmentally co-occurring mercury resistance plasmids are genetically and phenotypically diverse and confer variable contextdependent fitness effects. Environ Microbiol 2015. <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.1111/1462-2920.12901.
- [23] Martínez JL, Baquero F, Andersson DI. Predicting antibiotic resistance. Nat Rev Microbiol 2007;5(12):958–65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro1796</u>.
- [24] Smalla K, Cook K, Djordjevic SP, Klümper U, Gillings M. Environmental dimensions of antibiotic resistance: assessment of basic science gaps. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 2018;94(12). <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/femsec/fiy195</u>.
- [25] Koskella B, Vos M. Adaptation in natural microbial populations. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst 2015;46:503–22. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ecolsys-112414-054458</u>.
- **26** Stewart FM, Levin BR. The population biology of bacterial plasmids: A priori conditions for the existence of conjugationally transmitted factors. Genetics 1977;87(2):209–28.
- [27] Bergstrom CT, Lipsitch M, Levin BR. Natural selection, infectious transfer and the existence conditions for bacterial plasmids. Genetics 2000;155 (4):1505–19.
- [28] Llí LN, Britton NF, Feil EJ. The persistence of parasitic plasmids. Genetics 2007;177(1):399-405. <u>https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.107.077420</u>.
- [29] Lopatkin AJ, Meredith HR, Srimani JK, Pfeiffer C, Durrett R, You L. Persistence and reversal of plasmid-mediated antibiotic resistance. Nat Commun 2017;8 (1):1689. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-017-01532-1</u>.
- [30] Zwanzig M, Harrison E, Brockhurst MA, Hall JPJ, Berendonk TU, Berger U. Mobile compensatory mutations promote plasmid survival. mSystems 2019;4(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/mSystems.00186-18</u>.
- [31] Wang T, You L. The persistence potential of transferable plasmids. Nature. Communications 2020;11. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-19368-7</u>.
- [32] Seoane J, Sin G, Lardon L, Gernaey KV, Smets BF. A new extant respirometric assay to estimate intrinsic growth parameters applied to study plasmid metabolic burden. Biotechnol Bioeng 2010;105(1):141–9. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1002/bit.22518</u>.
- [33] Song S, Wood TK. Post-segregational killing and phage inhibition are not mediated by cell death through toxin/antitoxin systems. Front Microbiol 2018;9:814. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.00814</u>.
- [34] Turner PE, Williams ESCP, Okeke C, Cooper VS, Duffy S, Wertz JE. Antibiotic resistance correlates with transmission in plasmid evolution. Evolution 2014;68(12):3368–80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/evo.12537</u>.
- [35] Lederberg J, Tatum EL. Gene recombination in escherichia coli. Nature 1946;158(4016):558. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/158558a0</u>.
- [36] Smillie C, Garcillán-Barcia MP, Francia MV, Rocha EPC, La Cruz Fd. Mobility of Plasmids. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 2010;74(3):434–52.
- [37] Cabezón E, Ripoll-Rozada J, Peña A, de la Cruz F, Arechaga I. Towards an integrated model of bacterial conjugation. FEMS Microbiol Rev 2015;39 (1):81–95. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1574-6976.12085</u>.

- [38] Clarke M, Maddera L, Harris RL, Silverman PM. F-pili dynamics by live-cell imaging. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2008;105(46):17978–81. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1073/pnas.0806786105</u>.
- [39] Marvin DA, Hohn B. Filamentous bacterial viruses. Bacteriol Rev 1969;33 (2):172–209. URL: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/4979697.
- [40] Haagensen JAJ, Hansen SK, Johansen T, Molin S. In situ detection of horizontal transfer of mobile genetic elements. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 2002;42(2):261–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.2002.tb01016.x</u>.
- [41] Garcillán-Barcia MP, Alvarado A, La Cruz Fd. Identification of bacterial plasmids based on mobility and plasmid population biology. FEMS Microbiol Rev 2011;35(5):936–956..
- [42] San Millan A, Peña-Miller R, Toll-Riera M, Halbert ZV, McLean AR, Cooper BS, MacLean RC. Positive selection and compensatory adaptation interact to stabilize non-transmissible plasmids. Nat Commun 2014a;5:5208.https://doi. org/10.1038/ncomms6208..
- [43] Novick RP. Plasmid incompatibility. Microbiol Rev 1987;51(4):381–95. URL: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC373122/.
- [44] Humbert M, Huguet KT, Coulombe F, Burrus V. Entry exclusion of conjugative plasmids of the inca, incc and related untyped incompatibility groups. J Bacteriol 2019. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/JB.00731-18</u>.
- [45] San Millan A, Heilbron K, MacLean RC. Positive epistasis between co-infecting plasmids promotes plasmid survival in bacterial populations. ISME J 2014;8 (3):601–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2013.182</u>.
- [46] Gama JA, Zilhão R, Dionisio F. Conjugation efficiency depends on intra and intercellular interactions between distinct plasmids: Plasmids promote the immigration of other plasmids but repress co-colonizing plasmids. Plasmid 2017;93:6–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plasmid.2017.08.003</u>.
- [47] Gama JA, Zilhão R, Dionisio F. Multiple plasmid interference pledging allegiance to my enemy's enemy. Plasmid 2017;93:17–23. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.plasmid.2017.08.002</u>.
- [48] Marraffini LA, Sontheimer EJ. CRISPR interference limits horizontal gene transfer in staphylococci by targeting dna. Science 2008;322(5909):1843–5. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1165771.
- [49] Pinilla-Redondo R, Mayo-Muñoz D, Russel J, Garrett RA, Randau L, Sørensen SJ, et al. Type IV CRISPR-cas systems are highly diverse and involved in competition between plasmids. Nucleic Acids Res 2019. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1093/nar/gkz1197</u>.
- [50] Marraffini LA. CRISPR-cas immunity in prokaryotes. Nature 2015;526 (7571):55-61. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature15386</u>.
- [51] San Millan A, MacLean RC. Fitness costs of plasmids: a limit to plasmid transmission. Microbiology. Spectrum 2017;5(5). <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/</u> microbiolspec.MTBP-0016-2017.
- [52] Koraimann G, Wagner MA. Social behavior and decision making in bacterial conjugation. Front Cellular Infection Microbiol 2014;4:54. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fcimb.2014.00054</u>.
- [53] Stoebel DM, Dean AM, Dykhuizen DE. The cost of expression of escherichia coli lac operon proteins is in the process, not in the products. Genetics 2008;178(3):1653–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1534/genetics.107.085399</u>.
- [54] Touchon M, Hoede C, Tenaillon O, Barbe V, Baeriswyl S, Bidet P, Bingen E, Bonacorsi S, Bouchier C, Bouvet O, Calteau A, Chiapello H, Clermont O, Cruveiller S, Danchin A, Diard M, Dossat C, Karoui ME, Frapy E, Garry L, Ghigo JM, Gilles AM, Johnson J, Le Bouguénec C, Lescat M, Mangenot S, Martinez-Jéhanne V, Matic I, Nassif X, Oztas S, Petit MA, Pichon C, Rouy Z, Ruf CS, Schneider D, Tourret J, Vacherie B, Vallenet D, Médigue C, Rocha EPC, Denamur E, Casadesús J. Organised genome dynamics in the escherichia coli species results in highly diverse adaptive paths. PLoS Genet 2009;5(1):. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pgen.1000344
- [55] Rankin DJ, Rocha EPC, Brown SP. What traits are carried on mobile genetic elements, and why?. Heredity 2011;106(1):1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/</u> hdy.2010.24.
- [56] Dahlberg C, Chao L. Amelioration of the cost of conjugative plasmid carriage in eschericha coli k12. Genetics 2003;165(4):1641–9.
- [57] Dionisio F, Conceição IC, Marques ACR, Fernandes L, Gordo I. The evolution of a conjugative plasmid and its ability to increase bacterial fitness. Biol Lett 2005;1(2):250-2. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2004.0275</u>.
- [58] Redondo-Salvo S, Fernández-López R, Ruiz R, Vielva L, de Toro M, Rocha EPC, Garcillán-Barcia MP, de la Cruz F. Pathways for horizontal gene transfer in bacteria revealed by a global map of their plasmids. Nat Commun 2020;11 (1):3602. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-17278-2.
- [59] Abe K, Nomura N, Suzuki S. Biofilms: hot spots of horizontal gene transfer (HGT) in aquatic environments, with a focus on a new HGT mechanism. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 2020;96(5). <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/femsec/fiaa031</u>.
- [60] Jorge P, Magalhães AP, Grainha T, Alves D, Sousa AM, Lopes SP, Pereira MO. Antimicrobial resistance three ways: healthcare crisis, major concepts and the relevance of biofilms. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 2019;95(8). <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1093/femsec/fiz115</u>.
- [61] Høiby N, Ciofu O, Johansen HK, Song Z, Moser C, Jensen PØ, Molin S, Givskov M, Tolker-Nielsen T, Bjarnsholt T. The clinical impact of bacterial biofilms. Int J Oral Sci 2011;3(2):55-65. <u>https://doi.org/10.4248/IIOS11026</u>.
- [62] Papenfort K, Bassler BL. Quorum sensing signal-response systems in gramnegative bacteria. Nat Rev Micro 2016;14(9):576–88. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1038/nrmicro.2016.89</u>.
- [63] Bottery MJ, Passaris I, Dytham C, Wood AJ, van der Woude MW. Spatial organization of expanding bacterial colonies is affected by contact-dependent growth inhibition. Curr Biol 2019;29(21):3622–3634.e5. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cub.2019.08.074</u>.

Computational and Structural Biotechnology Journal 19 (2021) 586-599

- [64] Lemonnier M, Levin B, Romeo T, Garner K, Baquero MR, Mercante J, Lemichez E, Baquero F, Blazquez J. The evolution of contact-dependent inhibition in non-growing populations of escherichia coli. Proc Biol Sci/R Soc 2008;275:3–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2007.1234</u>.
- [65] Rittmann BE, McCarty PL. Model of steady-state-biofilm kinetics. Biotechnol Bioeng 1980;22(11):2343–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.260221110</u>.
- [66] de la Fuente-Núñez C, Reffuveille F, Fernández L, Hancock RE. Bacterial biofilm development as a multicellular adaptation: antibiotic resistance and new therapeutic strategies. Curr Opin Microbiol 2013;16(5):580–9. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1016/ji.mib.2013.06.013</u>.
- [67] Rodríguez-Martínez JM, Pascual A. Antimicrobial resistance in bacterial biofilms. Reviews in Medical. Microbiology 2006;17(3).
- [68] Sedgley C, Dunny G. Antimicrobial resistance in biofilm communities. In: Chávez de Paz, Luis E, Sedgley C.M., Kishen A., eds. The Root Canal Biofilm. Berlin and Heidelberg: Springer, Berlin Heidelberg. ISBN 978-3-662-47415-0; 2015:55–84.https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-47415-0_3.
- [69] Ghigo JM. Natural conjugative plasmids induce bacterial biofilm development. Nature 2001;412(6845):442–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/ 35086581</u>.
- [70] Tao F, Swarup S, Zhang LH. Quorum sensing modulation of a putative glycosyltransferase gene cluster essential for xanthomonas campestris biofilm formation. Environ Microbiol 2010;12(12):3159–70. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1462-2920.2010.02288.x</u>.
- [71] Gama JA, Fredheim EGA, Cléon F, Reis AM, Zilhão R, Dionisio F. Dominance between plasmids determines the extent of biofilm formation. Front Microbiol 2020;11. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.02070</u>.
- 72 Kreft JU, Booth G, Wimpenny JWT. BacSim, a simulator for individual-based modelling of bacterial colony growth. Microbiology 1998;144(12):3275–87.
- [73] Cook L, Chatterjee A, Barnes A, Yarwood J, Hu WS, Duny G. Biofilm growth alters regulation of conjugation by a bacterial pheromone. Mol Microbiol 2011;81(6):1499–510. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.2011.07786.x.</u>
- [74] Cook L, Dunny G. The influence of biofilms in the biology of plasmids. Microbiology. Spectrum 2014;2(5). <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/microbiolspec.</u> <u>PLAS-0012-2013</u>.
- [75] Kreft JU. Biofilms promote altruism. Microbiology 2004;150(8):2751–60. https://doi.org/10.1099/mic.0.26829-0.
- [76] Klümper U, Recker M, Zhang L, Yin X, Zhang T, Buckling A, Gaze W. Selection for antimicrobial resistance is reduced when embedded in a natural microbial community. ISME J 2019;13.. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41396-019-0483-z</u>.
- [77] Zhang XX, Zhang T, Fang HHP. Antibiotic resistance genes in water environment. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2009;82(3):397–414. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-008-1829-z</u>.
- [78] Kittinger C, Lipp M, Baumert R, Folli B, Koraimann G, Toplitsch D, Liebmann A, Grisold AJ, Farnleitner AH, Kirschner A, Zarfel G. Antibiotic resistance patterns of pseudomonas spp. isolated from the river danube. Front Microbiol 2016;7:586.. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.00586</u>.
- [79] Walsh TR, Weeks J, Livermore DM, Toleman MA. Dissemination of ndm-1 positive bacteria in the new delhi environment and its implications for human health: an environmental point prevalence study. Lancet Infect Dis 2011;11(5):355-62. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(11)70059-7</u>.
- [80] Cairns J, Jokela R, Hultman J, Tamminen M, Virta M, Hiltunen T. Construction and characterization of synthetic bacterial community for experimental ecology and evolution. Front Genet 2018;9:312... <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/ fgene.2018.00312</u>.
- [81] Kovárová-Kovar K, Egli T. Growth kinetics of suspended microbial cells: from single-substrate-controlled growth to mixed-substrate kinetics. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 1998;62(3):646–66.
- [82] Gibson B, Wilson DJ, Feil E, Eyre-Walker A. The distribution of bacterial doubling times in the wild. Proc R Soc London B: Biol Sci 2018;285(1880). https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2018.0789.
- [83] Rizzo L, Manaia C, Merlin C, Schwartz T, Dagot C, Ploy M, et al. Urban wastewater treatment plants as hotspots for antibiotic resistant bacteria and genes spread into the environment: a review. Sci Total Environ 2013;447:345–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.01.032</u>.
- [84] Liu Z, Cichocki N, Bonk F, Günther S, Schattenberg F, Harms H, et al. Ecological stability properties of microbial communities assessed by flow cytometry. mSphere 2018;3(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/mSphere.00564-17</u>.
- [85] Lambrecht J, Schattenberg F, Harms H, Mueller S. Characterizing microbiome dynamics – flow cytometry based workflows from pure cultures to natural communities. JoVE 2018;137:58033. <u>https://doi.org/10.3791/58033</u>.
- [86] Heuer H, Fox RE, Top EM. Frequent conjugative transfer accelerates adaptation of a broad-host-range plasmid to an unfavorable pseudomonas putida host. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 2007;59(3):738–48. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1111/j.1574-6941.2006.00223.x</u>.
- [87] Hall JPJ, Wood AJ, Harrison E, Brockhurst MA. Source-sink plasmid transfer dynamics maintain gene mobility in soil bacterial communities. Proc Natl Acad Sci 2016;113(29):8260–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1600974113</u>.
- [88] Hall JPJ, Harrison E, Brockhurst MA. Competitive species interactions constrain abiotic adaptation in a bacterial soil community. Evol Lett 2018;2:580–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/evJ3.83</u>.
- [89] Cairns J, Koskinen K, Penttinen R, Patinen T, Hartikainen A, Jokela R, et al. Black queen evolution and trophic interactions determine plasmid survival after the disruption of the conjugation network. mSystems 2018;3(5). <u>https:// doi.org/10.1128/mSystems.00104-18</u>.
- [90] Epstein JM. Why model? J Artif Soc Social Simul 2008;11(4):12.http://jasss. soc.surrey.ac.uk/11/4/12.html.

- [91] Fritsch M, Lischke H, Meyer KM. Scaling methods in ecological modelling. Methods Ecol Evol 2020;11:1368–78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.13466</u>.
- [92] Lardon LA, Merkey BV, Martins S, Dötsch A, Picioreanu C, Kreft JU, Smets BF. iDynoMiCS: next-generation individual-based modelling of biofilms. Environ Microbiol 2011;13(9):2416–34.
- [93] Merkey BV, Lardon LA, Seoane JM, Kreft JU, Smets BF. Growth dependence of conjugation explains limited plasmid invasion in biofilms: an individual-based modelling study. Environ Microbiol 2011;13(9):2435–52.
- [94] Estrela S, Brown SP. Community interactions and spatial structure shape selection on antibiotic resistant lineages. PLOS Computat Biol 2018;14 (6):1–21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pcbi.1006179</u>.
- [95] Campos M, Llorens C, Sempere JM, Futami R, Rodriguez I, Carrasco P, Capilla R, Latorre A, Coque TM, Moya A, Baquero F. A membrane computing simulator of trans-hierarchical antibiotic resistance evolution dynamics in nested ecological compartments (ares). Biol Direct 2015;10(1):41. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s13062-015-0070-9</u>.
- [96] Campos M, Capilla R, Naya F, Futami R, Coque T, Moya A, et al. Simulating multilevel dynamics of antimicrobial resistance in a membrane computing model. mBio 2019;10(1). <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.02460-18</u>.
- [97] Campos M, San Millán Á, Sempere JM, Lanza VF, Coque TM, Llorens C, et al. Simulating the influence of conjugative plasmids kinetic values on the multilevel dynamics of antimicrobial resistance in a membrane computing model. Antimicrobial Agents Chemotherapy 2020. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/ AAC.00593-20</u>.
- [98] Mc Ginty SÉ, Rankin DJ. The evolution of conflict resolution between plasmids and their bacterial hosts. Evolution 2012;66(5):1662–70. <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.1111/j.1558-5646.2011.01549.x.
- [99] Mc Ginty SÉ, Lehmann L, Brown SP, Rankin DJ. The interplay between relatedness and horizontal gene transfer drives the evolution of plasmidcarried public goods. Proc Biol Sci/R Soc 2013;280(1761):20130400.https:// doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2013.0400.
- [100] Kelsic ED, Zhao J, Vetsigian K, Kishony R. Counteraction of antibiotic production and degradation stabilizes microbial communities. Nature 2015;521:516. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nature14485</u>.
- [101] Werisch M, Berger U, Berendonk TU. Conjugative plasmids enable the maintenance of low cost non-transmissible plasmids. Plasmid 2017;91:96-104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/i.plasmid.2017.04.004</u>.
- [102] Carvalho G, Balestrino D, Forestier C, Mathias JD. How do environmentdependent switching rates between susceptible and persister cells affect the dynamics of biofilms faced with antibiotics? npj Biofilms Microbiomes 2018;4(1):6.https://doi.org/10.1038/s41522-018-0049-2..
- [103] Mishra S, Kneis D, Berendonk TU, Aubeneau A. Optimum positioning of wastewater treatment plants in a river network: a model-based approach to minimize microbial pollution. Sci Total Environ 2019;691:1310–9. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1016/i.scitotenv.2019.07.035</u>.
- [104] Carvalho G, Fouchet D, Danesh G, Godeux AS, Laaberki MH, Pontier D, Charpentier X, Venner S. Bacterial transformation buffers environmental fluctuations through the reversible integration of mobile genetic elements. mBio 2020;11.https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.02443-19..
- [105] Arya S, Todman H, Baker M, Hooton S, Millard A, Kreft JU, Hobman JL, Stekel DJ. A generalised model for generalised transduction: the importance of co-evolution and stochasticity in phage mediated antimicrobial resistance transfer. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 2020. <u>https://doi. org/10.1093/femsec/fiaa100</u>.
- [106] Yurtsev EA, Chao HX, Datta MS, Artemova T, Gore J. Bacterial cheating drives the population dynamics of cooperative antibiotic resistance plasmids. Mol Syst Biol 2013;9:683. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/msb.2013.39</u>.
- [107] Malwade A, Nguyen A, Sadat-Mousavi P, Ingalls BP. Predictive modeling of a batch filter mating process. Front Microbiol 2017;8:461. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fmicb.2017.00461</u>.
- [108] Meredith HR, Andreani V, Ma HR, Lopatkin AJ, Lee AJ, Anderson DJ, et al. Applying ecological resistance and resilience to dissect bacterial antibiotic responses. Sci Adv 2018;4(12). <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aau1873</u>.
- [109] Valle Aad, León-Sampedro R, Rodríguez-Beltrán J, DelaFuente J, Hernández-García M, Ruiz-Garbajosa P, et al. The distribution of plasmid fitness effects explains plasmid persistence in bacterial communities. bioRxiv 2020. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1101/2020.08.01.230672</u>.
- [110] Tetteh J, Matthäus F, Hernandez Vargas EA. A survey of within-host and between-hosts modelling for antibiotic resistance. Biosystems 2020;196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biosystems.2020.104182. 104182.
- [111] Leclerc QJ, Lindsay JA, Knight GM. Mathematical modelling to study the horizontal transfer of antimicrobial resistance genes in bacteria: current state of the field and recommendations. J R Soc Interface 2019;16(157):20190260. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2019.0260.
- [112] Grimm V, Berger U, Bastiansen F, Eliassen S, Ginot V, Giske J, et al. A standard protocol for describing individual-based and agent-based models. Ecol Modell 2006;198(1–2):115–26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2006.</u> 04.023.
- [113] Seoane J, Yankelevich T, Dechesne A, Merkey B, Sternberg C, Smets BF. An individual-based approach to explain plasmid invasion in bacterial populations. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 2011;75(1):17–27.
- [114] Railsback SF. Concepts from complex adaptive systems as a framework for individual-based modelling. Ecol Model 2001;139(1):47–62. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1016/S0304-3800(01)00228-9</u>.

M. Zwanzig

- [115] Taktikos J, Stark H, Zaburdaev V. How the motility pattern of bacteria affects their dispersal and chemotaxis. PLoS ONE 2013;8(12):. <u>https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0081936</u>e81936.
- [116] Hellweger FL, Clegg RJ, Clark JR, Plugge CM, Kreft JU. Advancing microbial sciences by individual-based modelling. Nat Rev Micro 2016;14(7):461–71. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro.2016.62.
- [117] van Dijk B, Hogeweg P, Doekes H, Takeuchi N. Slightly beneficial genes are retained by bacteria evolving dna uptake despite selfish elements. eLife 2020; https://doi.org/10.7554/elife.56801.sa1.
- [118] Kreft JU, Plugge CM, Grimm V, Prats C, Leveau JHJ, Banitz T, et al. Mighty small: observing and modeling individual microbes becomes big science. Proc Nat Acad Sci 2013;110(45):18027–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.1317472110</u>.
- [119] Leveau JHJ, Hellweger FL, Kreft JU, Prats C, Zhang W. The individual microbe: Single-cell analysis and agent-based modelling. Front Microbiol 2018;9:2825. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.02825</u>.
- [120] Theves M, Taktikos J, Zaburdaev V, Stark H, Beta C. A bacterial swimmer with two alternating speeds of propagation. Biophys J 2013;105(8):1915–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2013.08.047</u>.
- [121] Müller S, Nebe-von Caron G. Functional single-cell analyses: flow cytometry and cell sorting of microbial populations and communities. femsre 2010;34 (4):554–87. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6976.2010.00214.x.</u>
- [122] Harrison E, Wood AJ, Dytham C, Pitchford JW, Truman J, Spiers A, Paterson S, Brockhurst MA. Bacteriophages limit the existence conditions for conjugative plasmids. mBio 2015;6(3):e00586.https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.00586-15..

- [123] Grimm V, Revilla E, Berger U, Jeltsch F, Mooij WM, Railsback SF, Thulke HH, Weiner J, Wiegand T, DeAngelis DL. Pattern-oriented modeling of agentbased complex systems: lessons from ecology. Science 2005;310 (5750):987–91.
- [124] Grimm V, Berger U, DeAngelis DL, Polhill J Gary, Giske J, Railsback SF. The odd protocol: a review and first update. Ecol Model 2010;221(23):2760–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2010.08.019</u>.
- [125] Grimm V, Augusiak J, Focks A, Frank BM, Gabsi F, Johnston AS, et al. Towards better modelling and decision support: documenting model development, testing, and analysis using trace. Ecol Modell 2014;280:129–39. <u>https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2014.01.018</u>.
- [126] Grimm V, Berger U. Robustness analysis: Deconstructing computational models for ecological theory and applications. Next generation ecological modelling, concepts, and theory: structural realism, emergence. and predictions 2016;326:162–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ecolmodel.2015.07.018</u>.
- [127] Fox RE, Zhong X, Krone SM, Top EM. Spatial structure and nutrients promote invasion of IncP-1 plasmids in bacterial populations. ISME J 2008;2 (10):1024–39.
- [128] Philipsen KR, Christiansen LE, Hasman H, Madsen H. Modelling conjugation with stochastic differential equations. J Theor Biol 2010;263(1):134–42. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtbi.2009.11.011</u>.